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DECISION


Andrew Tegethoff is subject to discipline because he prepared a false and inflated real estate appraisal report and because he had knowledge of the commission of a felony and failed to report it.  The latter was a criminal offense, and he pled guilty to it.
Procedure


On April 25, 2008, the Missouri Real Estate Appraisers Commission (“the MREAC”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Tegethoff.  On May 6, 2008, Tegethoff was personally served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  On September 8, 2008, Tegethoff requested that the hearing be held after his release from prison.  We granted the motion and held the hearing on January 7, 2009.  Assistant Attorney General Kevin Hall represented the MREAC.  Neither Tegethoff nor anyone representing him appeared.  The matter became ready for our decision on February 23, 2009, the date the last brief was due.

Findings of Fact

1. Tegethoff was licensed by the MREAC as a state-certified residential real estate appraiser until his license expired on June 30, 2008.  Tegethoff’s certification was current and active at all relevant times.
2. On or about January 25, 2006, Tegethoff prepared a false and inflated real estate appraisal.  He knew about the commission of a felony and failed to report it to a proper authority.
3. On November 28, 2007, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri (“the court”), Tegethoff pled guilty to one count of misprision of a felony in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 4 and 2.
4. The count reads:

Defendant, ANDREW TEGETHOFF, was a residential real estate appraiser in the St. Louis, Missouri metropolitan area, with an office at 7417 Whitehaven Drive, St. Louis, Missouri.  TEGETHOFF performed real estate appraisals for lenders and mortgage brokers, including Midwest Mortgage Consultants.
On or about January 25, 2006, in the Eastern District of

Missouri, the defendant,

ANDREW TEGETHOFF,

having knowledge of the actual commission of a felony cognizable by a court of the United States, to wit:  Mail Fraud . . . in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2, did conceal the same by preparing and submitting a false and inflated real estate appraisal dated January 25, 2006 for the property at 11 Arundel Place, St. Louis, Missouri and did not as soon as possible make known the same to some judge or other person in civil or military authority under the United States
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 4 and 2.[
]
5. On February 27, 2008, the court issued a final judgment finding Tegethoff guilty of misprision of felony.  The court sentenced Tegethoff to eight months in prison.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the MREAC’s complaint.
  The MREAC has the burden of proving that Tegethoff has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The MREAC argues that there is cause for discipline under § 339.532:

2.  The commission may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any state-certified real estate appraiser, state-licensed real estate appraiser, or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *
(4) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 339.500 to 339.549 for any offense of which an essential element is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;
(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, dishonesty, fraud, or misrepresentation in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 339.500 to 339.549;

(6) Violation of any of the standards for the development or communication of real estate appraisals as provided in or pursuant to sections 339.500 to 339.549;

(7) Failure to comply with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice promulgated by the appraisal standards board of the appraisal foundation;

*   *   *
(10) Violating, assisting or enabling any person to willfully disregard any of the provisions of sections 339.500 to 339.549 or 
the regulations of the commission for the administration and enforcement of the provisions of sections 339.500 to 339.549;

*   *   *
(14) Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]
I.  Criminal Prosecution – Subdivision (4)


A person commits the crime of misprision of felony under 18 U.S.C. § 4 as follows:

Whoever, having knowledge of the actual commission of a felony cognizable by a court of the United States, conceals and does not as soon as possible make known the same to some judge or other person in civil or military authority under the United States, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than three years, or both.
The MREAC argues that Tegethoff’s license is subject to discipline because Tegethoff pled guilty (1) to an offense that is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a real estate appraiser, (2) to an offense of which an essential element is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, and (3) to an offense that involves moral turpitude.
A.  Reasonably Related


Tegethoff pled guilty to misprision of the felony of mail fraud.  He committed this offense by preparing a false and inflated real estate appraisal.  His crime is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a real estate appraiser.

B.  Essential Element


An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.
  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  The crime of misprision requires only proof of knowledge 
and failure to act – not any active participation in the felony.  There need be no proof of perversion of truth or disposition to defraud or deceive.  Fraud and dishonesty are not essential elements of misprision of a felony.
C.  Moral Turpitude


The MREAC argues that the crime of misprision of a felony is a crime involving moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]


In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);

(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).

We determine that misuse of a felony is a Category 3 crime.  The circumstances of the crime are that Tegethoff prepared a false and inflated appraisal report.  While this is a serious offense, we do not find it to be one involving moral turpitude.

There is cause for discipline under § 339.532.2(4) because Tegethoff pled guilty to a crime that is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a real estate appraiser.

II.  Violating Standards/Laws – Subdivisions (6), (7) and (10)

Section 339.535
 provides:

State certified real estate appraisers and state licensed real estate appraisers shall comply with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice promulgated by the appraisal standards board of the appraisal foundation.
The Ethics Rule of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”), 2005 Edition, regarding conduct provides:  “An appraiser must perform assignments ethically and competently, in accordance with USPAP and any supplemental standards agreed to by the appraiser in accepting the assignment.  An appraiser must not engage in criminal conduct.”


Tegethoff prepared a false and inflated appraisal report and engaged in the criminal conduct of failing to report a felony.  He violated the USPAP ethics rule and § 339.535.
  He is subject to discipline under § 339.532.2(6), (7), and (10).

III.  Professional Conduct – Subdivision (5)


The MREAC argues that by concealing the actual commission of a felony when he prepared and submitted a false and inflated real estate appraisal, Tegethoff demonstrated incompetence, misconduct, gross negligence, dishonesty, fraud, and/or misrepresentation in the performance of the functions or duties of a licensed real estate appraiser.


When referring to an occupation, incompetence relates to the failure to use “the actual ability of a person to perform in that occupation.”
  It also refers to a general lack of, or a lack of 
disposition to use, a professional ability.
  Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”
  Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.
  We defined fraud and dishonesty above.  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.


We find that Tegethoff’s conduct in concealing a felony by preparing a false and inflated real estate appraisal report constitutes misconduct, fraud, dishonesty and misrepresentation.  We normally do not find that one instance of misconduct constitutes incompetence, and we do not do so in this case.  Because the mental states for misconduct and gross negligence are mutually exclusive, we find no cause to discipline for gross negligence.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.532.2(5).
IV.  Violation of Professional Trust – Subdivision (14)

The MREAC argues that by concealing the actual commission of a felony when he prepared and submitted a false and inflated real estate appraisal, Tegethoff violated the professional trust or confidence he owed to clients.  Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  We agree that Tegethoff violated a professional trust when he concealed the commission of a felony by preparing a false and inflated real estate appraisal report.  There is cause for discipline § 339.532.2(14).
Summary


There is cause to discipline Tegethoff under § 339.532.2(4), (6), (7), (10), and (14).

SO ORDERED on April 13, 2009.



________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.


Commissioner
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